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I. INTRODUCTION 

The Office of the General Counsel circulated the First General Counsel’s Report 
(“FGCR”) in this matter to the Commission on November 22, 2019.  The FGCR recommended 
finding reason to believe that unknown persons made over $6 million of contributions in the 
name of another to two federal independent expenditure only committees (“IEOPCs”), SEALs 
for Truth and Nicholas Britt in his official capacity as treasurer (“SFT”) and LG PAC and 
Richard Monsees in his official capacity as treasurer (“LG PAC”), via transfers that the IEOPCs 
knowingly misreported as coming from two conduit 501(c)(4) organizations, American Policy 
Coalition (“APC”) and Freedom Frontier.  These conduit contributions were allegedly intended 
to conceal the identities of donors who sought to evade Missouri state disclosure requirements 
and contribution prohibitions, with the understanding that the federal IEOPCs would use the 
funds to support Eric Greitens, a 2016 candidate for Missouri governor.  The FGCR 
recommended finding reason to believe APC and Freedom Frontier knowingly transmitted, and 
SFT and LG PAC knowingly accepted, contributions in the name of another, in violation of 
52 U.S.C. § 30122; and that SFT and LG PAC knowingly submitted false disclosure reports to 
the Commission, in violation of 52 U.S.C. § 30104(b). 

The FGCR noted that a state investigation conducted by the Missouri House of 
Representatives Special Investigative Committee on Oversight resulted in a July 10, 2018, 
complaint being filed with the Missouri Ethics Commission (“MEC”); that matter was still 
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pending when the FGCR was circulated.1  On February 13, 2020, the MEC and Greitens for 
Missouri (“GFM”) entered into a Joint Stipulation of Facts and a Consent Order setting forth 
uncontested facts and violations of Missouri law by GFM, which are attached to this 
memorandum.2   

This memorandum provides the Commission with a summary of the significant new 
information disclosed in the Joint Stipulation of Facts and Consent Order, and analyzes this new 
information with respect to the allegations raised in MUR 7422.  Because the new information 
made available to the Commission after the circulation of the FGCR in MUR 7422 is consistent 
with and supports our analysis in that report, the new information does not change our pending 
recommendations as set forth therein, except that we recommend that the Commission direct the 
Office of the General Counsel to revise the Factual and Legal Analyses circulated with the 
FGCR on November 22, 2019. 

II. FACTUAL SUMMARY 

The Complaint in MUR 7422 alleges that unknown persons contributed over $6 million 
to the IEOPCs, SFT and LG PAC, using APC and Freedom Frontier, respectively, as 
intermediaries to conceal these persons’ identities.  The Complaint alleges that these unknown 
individuals were Greitens supporters that may have been legally prohibited from donating 
directly to GFM, or that these persons wanted to avoid disclosing their support for Greitens’s 
candidacy.  During the period leading up to Missouri’s 2016 primary election, SFT received a 
single $2 million contribution from APC and made a $1.975 million donation to GFM the same 
day; LG PAC received an aggregate total of $4.395 from Freedom Frontier, and made $4.36 
million in disbursements for campaign communications supporting Greitens’s candidacy.  SFT 
received no itemized contributions aside from the $2 million that it received from APC, and LG 
PAC received no itemized contributions aside from the $4.395 million that it received from 
Freedom Frontier.  Aside from making disbursements for operating expenses, neither IEOPC 
reported making any disbursements in connection with any other candidate, federal or 
nonfederal.3   

The MEC found that GFM failed to timely report in-kind contributions from LG PAC in 
the form of expenditures for communications supporting Greitens’s candidacy.4  These 
expenditures by LG PAC were in-kind contributions to GFM, the MEC concluded, because they 
“were express advocacy or its functional equivalent,” and were “done in cooperation with the 
                                                 
1  See First Gen. Counsel’s Report at 6 n.19, MUR 7422 (Greitens for Missouri, et al.). 

2  Joint Stipulation of Facts, Waiver of Hearing Before the Missouri Ethics Comm’n, and Consent Order with 
Joint Proposed Findings of Fact and Conclusions of Law, MEC v. Greitens for Missouri (Feb. 13, 2020), https://mec 
.mo.gov/Scanned/CasedocsPDF/CMTS1474.pdf (“MEC Findings”). 

3  See First Gen. Counsel’s Report at 3–6, MUR 7422. 

4  MEC Findings ¶ 67 (citing Section 130.041.1(3), RSMo).  GFM admitted this violation, for which it agreed 
to pay a $98,417 civil penalty and amend the relevant disclosure reports.  Id. at 16. 
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GFM committee.”5  However, while the MEC found that GFM had violated its reporting 
obligations under Missouri law, it noted that the contributions themselves did not violate 
Missouri law because Missouri, at the time, did not limit contributions by a PAC to a candidate 
for state office.6 

The MEC conducted an extensive factual inquiry that uncovered information pertinent to 
MUR 7422.  Specifically, the MEC found:7 

 In the spring of 2015, GFM began working with political consultants Nick Ayers and 
Austin Chambers of C5 Consulting, Inc.  Chambers left C5 Consulting in October 2015 
to become GFM’s campaign manager.8 

 In the latter half of 2015, GFM’s finance director, Meredith Gibbons, and a national 
fundraising consultant composed a list of potential donors that either could not or elected 
not to contribute directly to GFM.  In 2015 and 2016, Ayers directed Gibbons to refer 
those potential donors to Tom Norris, who worked for Freedom Frontier, the 501(c)(4).9 

 Ayers also emailed Gibbons, Chambers, and the national fundraising consultant a list of 
“donors who have an interest in an outside group” and suggested getting on a conference 
call with Norris and David Langdon, an officer for APC, to discuss talking points to use 
“as we direct people their way.”10 

 Ayers terminated C5 Consulting’s contract to work for GFM in March or April of 2016, 
but remained in contact with Chambers regarding the Greitens campaign.11 

 When LG PAC started making disbursements supporting Greitens’s campaign with 
media buys, Chambers was alerted by one of GFM’s vendors via email, and Chambers 

                                                 
5  Id. ¶ 67. 

6  Id. ¶ 66.  GFM did report the receipt of the $1.975 million contribution from SFT.  See Greitens for 
Missouri, 2016 8 Days Before Primary Election Report at 20 (July 25, 2016), https://www.mec.mo.gov/Campaign 
FinanceReports/Generator.aspx?Keys=B2G41dEVPKgI8cDcdGFsgJsm99XwPL2Gatv0Pkn%2bUkdbB855Bp0yeiB
bLMDMAB5loc%2fEKCjLMP2kD9wjdB9F35%2fNJHivqBWH. 

7  The MEC’s findings did not identify Ayers, Chambers, and Gibbons by name, but their identities were 
disclosed in the MEC Complaint, as well as in the FEC Complaint in MUR 7422. 

8  MEC Findings ¶¶ 10–11. 

9  Id. ¶¶ 13–14. 

10  Id. ¶ 15. 

11  Id. ¶¶ 37–38. 
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responded, “This should be them then.”  Later that day, he wrote, “Hoping this is NA.”  
The latter comment was a specific reference to Nick Ayers.12 

 The following day, another GFM vendor on the same email thread wrote “Pretty boy to 
the rescue . . . .”  This was also a reference to Ayers.13 

 In July 2016, Ayers and Chambers had a phone call in which Chambers expressed 
concern about the Springfield, MO market.  LG PAC subsequently disbursed $98,417 for 
advertisements in the Springfield, MO market.  On July 28, 2016, a GFM vendor alerted 
Chambers to the LG PAC disbursements and Chambers replied, “Well at least he listened 
when I told him we were worried about Brunner in Springfield.”14 

III. ANALYSIS 

The MEC’s findings, which are not contested by GFM, are consistent with and support 
the recommendations set forth in the FGCR in MUR 7422.  GFM admits that its staff and 
consultants were planning and discussing referring potential donors — people that elected not to 
give, or were legally prohibited from giving, to GFM directly — to two 501(c)(4) organizations, 
Freedom Frontier and APC.  GFM also admits that its outside consultant, Ayers, discussed 
organizing a conference call with the 501(c)(4)s to craft talking points to use in sending potential 
donors to these “outside groups.”  Disclosure reports indicate that APC, in turn, provided all of 
SFT’s funds, $2 million, almost all of which SFT then donated directly to GFM.  LG PAC, 
which received all of its funds from Freedom Frontier, made at least some of its disbursements in 
coordination with GFM’s campaign manager, Chambers, who attributed LG PAC’s nonfederal 
spending to Nick Ayers, with whom Chambers was in communication regarding the campaign.   

The newly available information indicates that the 501(c)(4)s and federal IEOPCs were 
all aware of the overall scheme to funnel the funds of certain donors, who could not or would not 
publicly support Greitens, through the 501(c)(4)s to the federal committees, which would then 
use the funds to support Greitens’s candidacy.  The factual record described in the FGCR 
included emails between GFM staffers and consultants that discussed directing potential donors 
to 501(c)(4) organizations to avoid public disclosure of donors’ identities.15  The MEC’s findings 
now provide further clarity and detail, specifically indicating that Ayers, Chambers, and Gibbons 
had created a list of potential donors that could not give, or had elected not to give publicly, to 
GFM, and had directed those donors to Freedom Frontier and APC.  The MEC’s findings further 
indicate that as LG PAC received funds from Freedom Frontier, Ayers, in coordination with 
GFM’s campaign manager, Chambers, directed the federal committee to make disbursements for 
campaign communications supporting Greitens.  The new information thus further supports the 

                                                 
12  Id. ¶ 35. 

13  Id. ¶ 36. 

14  Id. ¶¶ 37–40. 

15  See First Gen. Counsel’s Report at notes 23–26 and associated text, MUR 7422. 
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conclusion that the specific purpose of directing donors to provide funds to the 501(c)(4)s, APC 
and Freedom Fund, was for those organizations to knowingly transfer the funds in their own 
names to the federal IEOPCs, SFT and LG PAC, and that the IEOPCs accepted the funds 
knowing that the true contributors were Greitens supporters seeking to avoid public disclosure, 
not the 501(c)(4)s that purported to make the contributions. 

As such, the MEC’s findings provide additional support for the FGCR’s 
recommendations that Freedom Fund and APC knowingly transmitted, and LG PAC and SFT 
knowingly accepted, federal contributions in the name of another, in violation of 52 U.S.C. 
§ 30122;16 and that SFT and LG PAC knowingly filed inaccurate disclosure reports naming APC 
and Freedom Fund, respectively, as the contributors, when in fact the recipient political 
committees were aware that other persons were the true contributors.17 

IV. RECOMMENDATIONS 

1. Approve recommendations 1, 2, 3, 4, 5, 6, 7, 8, and 9 in the First General 
Counsel’s Report in MUR 7422 circulated on November 22, 2019. 

2. Direct the Office of the General Counsel to revise the Factual and Legal Analyses 
circulated on November 22, 2019. 

Attachment:   Joint Stipulation of Facts, Waiver of Hearing Before the Missouri Ethics 
Commission and Consent Order with Joint Proposed Findings of Fact and 
Conclusions of Law 

                                                 
16  First Gen. Counsel’s Report at 10–19, MUR 7422. 

17  Id. at 21–22. 
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